TGEGKXGF."3213814235"39-55-56."Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm'Uvrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC13-244

Lower Court Case No. 99-005809CF10A

LUCIOUS BOYD, Appellant,

v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUZANNE MYERS KEFFER Chief Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0150177

SCOTT GAVIN Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 0058651

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL _SOUTH 101 NE 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida entered the judgments of convictions and death sentence currently at issue.

On January 30, 2002, Mr. Boyd was found guilty of one count of First Degree Murder, one count of Sexual Battery, and one count of Armed Kidnapping (R. 461-463).

The penalty phase of Mr. Boyd's trial began on March 11, 2002. On March 12, 2002, the jury rendered an advisory sentence unanimously recommending the death penalty (R. 499-506). The circuit court sentenced Mr. Boyd to death on June 21, 2002 for the count of First Degree Murder, finding that two (2) statutory aggravators outweighed one (1) statutory mitigator and five (5) non-statutory mitigators (R. 537-555). Further, the circuit court imposed a life sentence for the charge of Armed Kidnapping and a fifteen (15) year sentence for the charge of Sexual Battery (Id.). A formal sentencing order was entered on that date (Id.).

This Court affirmed Mr. Boyd's conviction and sentence on direct appeal. Boyd v. State, 910 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 2005); cert. denied Boyd v. Florida, 546 U.S. 1179 (2006).

Following this Court's affirmance, Mr. Boyd filed his initial Motion to Vacate Judgment of Convictions and Sentences With Special Request for Leave to

Amend in the Circuit Court for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit on February 14, 2007 (PC-R. 328-403). On May 29, 2009, after extensive public records litigation, Mr. Boyd filed his first amendment to his Motion to Vacate Judgment of Convictions and Sentences With Special Request for Leave to Amend (PC-R. 1257-1457), amending Claims III B and C, claim V, and claim IX and adding claims X and XI.

On March 23, 2012, Mr. Boyd filed a second amendment to his Motion to Vacate Judgment of Convictions and Sentences With Special Request for Leave to Amend, amending claim XI. (PC-R. 2549-2587).

The circuit court conducted a Case Management Conference on June 5, 2012 (PC-R. 5439-5527). On July 20, 2012, the circuit court entered an order granting an evidentiary hearing on numerous claims including: Claim III(A)(2) ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to adequately conduct voir dire, in part; Claim IV juror misconduct; Claim V subsections (A), (B), (C) ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to investigate and present mitigation at the penalty phase and failure to move for a mistrial during penalty phase; Claim VI denial of right to expert psychiatric assistance under *Ake v. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S. 68 (1985). (PC-R. 2769-2771).

On August 28-31, 2012 an evidentiary hearing was held. Prior to the start of the evidentiary hearing Mr. Boyd, through counsel, waived presentation of several

claims contained in his Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 Motion. Specifically, Mr. Boyd waived the presentation of Claim V, A and B relating to mental health mitigation and counsel's alleged failure to investigate and present both general and mental health mitigation. (PC-R. 7). Mr. Boyd also waived Claim VI pertaining to the denial of his right to competent assistance of a mental health expert at trial in violation of *Ake vs. Oklahoma*. The circuit court conducted a colloquy of Mr. Boyd during which he confirmed his intent to waive the above mentioned claims. (PC-R. 7-15).

Based on the waiver of Mr. Boyd's penalty phase claims, the circuit court heard testimony and received evidence related to Mr. Boyd's claims of juror misconduct based on the untruthful responses of jurors Tonja Striggles and Kevin Rebstock regarding their criminal histories, ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to adequately *voir dire* jurors Tonja Striggles and Kevin Rebstock regarding their criminal histories and ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object or move for a mistrial based on inflammatory and prejudicial comments made by a prior alleged rape victim who was seated in the courtroom during Mr. Boyd's testimony.

Juror Tonja Shalonda Striggles was convicted twice of false report of a bomb, subsequently violated probation and was charged with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and carrying a concealed firearm. (Def. Ex# 2-Case

No. 83-9071; Def. Ex#3-Case No. 86-16293; Def. Ex#4-Case No. 88-3624) (PC-R. 5564-65). Juror Striggles was also convicted in Georgia for contributing to the delinquency of minors, a misdemeanor (Def. Ex# 10)(PC-R. 4735-36). Juror Striggles's civil rights were not restored until April 4, 2008, six years after Mr. Boyd's trial (Def Ex. #1) (PC-R. 5564). Additionally, juror Kevin James Rebstock had a misdemeanor solicitation charge upon which adjudication was withheld. (Def. Ex#5) (PC-R. 5566). During *voir dire*, neither juror disclosed their criminal history.

The trial court, explaining the meaning and purpose of *voir dire*, told the jury venire "[a]s lawyers we interpret [the term *voir dire*] to mean to speak the truth and that's what we need you folks to be doing during this entire process" (R. 25). The court further explained to the jury that there may be reasons why a juror cannot serve which does not reflect on a potential juror as a bad person, only that the juror may be "better suited to be a juror in another case with a different set of charges, or possibly making [you] better suited to be a civil juror and not on a criminal jury at all" (R. 26). Before the actual *voir dire* began, the court asked the jurors to swear or affirm that each of them would answer all questions truthfully (R. 31). The record indicates that all jurors answered affirmatively (R. 31).

The court then questioned the venire regarding familiarity with the participants and/or witnesses in the trial and then whether any jurors were

unalterably opposed to the death penalty (R. 41). Both parties had an opportunity to question these jurors regarding their feelings about the death penalty. The Court employed the same procedure regarding jurors who believed death was the only appropriate penalty for first degree murder (R. 53). With both groups still in the jury box, the Court then posed to the venire the follow-up question whether the jurors would be able to weigh the aggravating and mitigating circumstances and apply the law as instructed by the Court (R. 55). No member of the venire responded negatively. Finally, the Court inquired whether any jurors had been exposed to media regarding Mr. Boyd's case or were familiar with the name Lucious Boyd in a criminal setting (R. 56). The State questioned the jurors who responded affirmatively in the presence of the entire venire as to their knowledge (R. 58-64). Defense counsel did not ask any questions (R. 64). Subsequently, the Court filled the jury box with the remaining 43 jurors and began the afternoon by reaffirming the importance of being forthcoming (R. 92-94). The court assured the jury panel that if any line of questions was the least bit sensitive to a juror, a juror could request to speak to the court and parties outside the presence of the other panel members (R. 94.).

Each juror, in turn responded to the questionnaire distributed by the trial court. Ms. Striggles responded to the questionnaire and specifically question #11, dealing with friends or family that had prior involvement with the criminal justice

system indicating that she had lived in Broward County on and off for 30 years, she considered herself a "military brat" and her "last job was United States Army" (R. 113). Ms. Striggles responded affirmatively to question # 11 indicating she had friends or family who were previously involved with the court system (R. 113). Despite her extensive criminal history as an adult, Ms. Striggles acknowledged that she herself had only been involved with the system when she was a juvenile and "guess[ed]" that she had been treated fairly (R. 114). Beyond the brief background information on the questionaire, the only information revealed regarding Ms. Striggles was that she had prior knowledge of Mr. Boyd's case (R. 58), she expected the prosecutor "to be honest" (R. 133) and through a one word response she indicated she could recommend death (R. 191).

During *voir dire*, juror Kevin James Rebstock briefly responded to the questionnaire distributed by the court and indicated that he lives in Lauderdale Lakes and has lived in Florida since 1970 (R. 97). Despite his own criminal history, juror Rebstock responded "no" to question #11 (R. 98).

Following the responses to the questionnaire, but still during the first day of jury selection, the State proceeded with *voir dire* continuing until midday the following day following day. Half way through the second day of jury selection, defense counsel began questioning potential jurors. Incredibly, Mr. Boyd's trial counsel, William Laswell, questioned the potential jurors for a mere 20 minutes

(R. 317) Trial counsel then abruptly concluded, stating "I'm hungry. I'm done and they're tired" (R. 316) Trial counsel conducted no additional *voir dire* and indicated on the record that his questioning was only 20 minutes (R. 317). Counsel then noted for the record that he was conducting the abbreviated *voir dire* with the consent of Mr. Boyd (R. 317). Despite these comments, the prosecutor immediately felt compelled to remark on the record "Judge since the record is black and white and [Mr. Laswell] said I'm hungry and I'm tired, I know that was him just being zestful" (R. 318). Given the chance to clarify his previous "zestful" statements, trial counsel instead again reiterated in front of the jury "No. I am hungry and I am tired and so is the jury" (R. 318).

William Laswell was appointed to represent Mr. Boyd at trial along with Dr. James Ongley (PC-R. 5570). Mr. Laswell is currently a member of the Florida bar but no longer in practice (PC-R. 5568). He was admitted to practice in Florida in 1972 and was actively practicing from that time forward, focusing on criminal defense including fifteen years with the Broward County Public Defender's Office (PC-R. 5569). Laswell testified he could not remember how many capital cases he had tried, curtly remarking to defense counsel that it was "more than you" (Id.).

Laswell's theory of defense at trial consisted of "trying to put barriers to a lot of scientific evidence that proved whatever the fact was would be consistent with the State's position" (PC-R. 5572), but he did not have an "overall strategy"

for seating a jury in Mr. Boyd's case that comported with any specific defense strategy (Id.) He did not have a particular type of individual he was looking for, only that he wanted a fair juror (PC-R. 5573). Laswell recalled consulting with Dr. Ongley about voir dire "every day" (Id.) He believed he did not have a chance to conduct any voir dire until the third day of trial¹ and that he felt by the time they had a chance to ask the panel questions, "we knew an awful lot about those people to begin with" (Id.)

After reviewing the record, Laswell confirmed that questionnaires were used and specifically question #11 seemed to deal with jurors' personal experience or any family or friends experiences with the court system (PC-R. 5577). He stated that he had no reason to believe that either the questionnaire utilized by the court or the questions posed by Judge Rothschild were not sufficiently clear to the jurors (PC-R. 5578). He had no recollection of either juror Rebstock or juror Striggles (Id.). Laswell could not recall asking any of his own questions following the State and the Court's follow up questions regarding the jurors' answers to the questionnaire (PC-R. 5580).

_

¹ When confronted with the fact that voir dire lasted only a day and half, Laswell testified that he did not have any reason to refute the record (Id.). Furthermore, with respect to the length of the defense's portion of voir dire, Laswell testified that he did not dispute that the record on appeal indicated that it lasted merely twenty minutes, stating "I had already listened to a day and a half of voir dire along with everybody else" (Id.).

No follow up questions to juror Striggles were conducted during voir dire (PC-R. 5583). Laswell's reasoning for failing to do so was because it was his "general position that in a serious criminal case when a juror says to me or to anybody on voir dire that they've had a run-in with law enforcement and have been prosecuted, I don't follow-up on that because I figure they are going to be more favorable to me than they are to the State. And I figured that the state attorney in this case, Mr. Loe, ought to be concerned about it before anybody else" (Id.) When asked whether he employed that strategy in Mr. Boyd's case, Laswell tersely retorted to defense counsel that "you try to overthink [sic] things. I don't think I had a strategy with Ms. Striggles, because I never even remembered her until recently. All I know is that if you tell me that she had a juvenile record, and some checks, or whatever, I would not normally generally have followed up on that. I don't consider that to be a problem for a defendant accused of a crime of near the magnitude that it is for the state attorney" (PC-R. 5584).

Laswell's handwritten notes from voir dire only indicated "juvenile record quote, 'got over it' unquote" with respect to juror Striggles (PC-R. 5587). This was not something he testified he would "have followed up on." (Id.) Laswell did not know that juror Striggles had a prior criminal history which included two felony convictions for false bomb reports, one felony conviction for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and one conviction in Georgia for contributing to the

delinquency of a minor (Id.)(Def. Ex#2-4, # 10). He was also unaware at the time of trial whether juror Striggles had had her civil rights restored (PC-R. 5588). Had he known such information, Laswell testified "it would indicate to me that I ought to do some voir dire" (Id.)

Laswell attempted to provide explanation for the failure to perform any follow up questioning:

My understanding is the record is bare of her saying any of the things that you just asked me. That she replied either to Mr. Loe or to Judge Rothschild in answer to the question as I have indicated. Yeah, I had a juvenile records but I got over it. All right. I didn't see any reason to ask any other question.

Number one, her response would indicate she wasn't real happy with the State to begin with. And number two would indicate that after years in the Military and her facing of, I don't know, of, you know, being called before the master or whatever, she was no likely to be sympathetic to law enforcement and the State.

(PC-R. 5588). Laswell confirmed that he did not know for certain whether her bias was in favor of or against the defense (Id.) He acknowledged that the flip side of his logic was equally possible that it may also promote cynicism and bias against those defendants that plea innocence (PC-R. 5589-90). Changing his tune, Laswell conceded: "I don't think you can say anything of a convicted felon would be likely and apply it across the board in the spectrum of American jurisprudence" (Id.).

Laswell understood that a juror who was a convicted felon and had not had their rights restored would be disqualified from service by statute (PC-R. 5591). He confirmed that he understood this would provide the basis for a "cause challenge" (Id.) However, Laswell indicated that he did not know if he would have asserted a cause challenge regarding juror Striggles, stating: "I don't know. Maybe. Maybe not," it would have "depend[ed] on how I was impressed by Ms. Striggles. And I haven't found any questioning of her by me in what you have provided me. So I suspect that what happened was the judge or Tony Loe said you were in trouble. She said yeah I had a little juvenile thing, da, da, da. And that's all she said to the judge and to the prosecutor. I am not going to follow-up on it" (PC-R. 5591-92). When pressed further as to whether he may have exercised a challenge for cause, Laswell flippantly responded "when if and buts become can and nuts, what a merry Christmas we will all have. I couldn't possibly answer that question" (PC-R. 5592).

At the time of Mr. Boyd's trial Laswell recalled that Steve Michaelson of the public defender's office was in the practice of obtaining property records and possibly voter registration information for potential jurors (PC-R. 5593-94) (State's Ex. #1-3) (PC-R. 5624, 5645). Laswell testified that this was not something which he cared about (PC-R. 5693-94, 5622). No information was listed beside juror Striggles's section of the voter registration notes (PC-R. 5646). He

was not aware of any practice by the Public Defender's Office at the time of Mr. Boyd's trial where they were conducting criminal background checks of potential jurors.

Laswell agreed that depending on where particular charges may have occurred, he possibly would have been able to access those files in the clerk's office (PC-R. 5595). Altough Ms. Striggles' cases originated from Broward County (PC-R. 5596-97), he wasn't certain that he would have been able to access these files had he gone down to the clerk's office and provided them with the case number. Laswell did not typically investigate: "as a public defender there were investigators to do that...Lawyers are supposed to lawyer. Investigators are supposed to investigate" (PC-R. 5598).

Laswell was not aware of the underlying facts and circumstances of Ms. Striggles' convictions as detailed in her case files including: her evaluation for competency in 1983 (PC-R. 5600); that she was committed to a program for counseling (Id.); that the case file indicated she had made phone calls with false bomb threats or that she was suicidal (PC-R. 5600-01); that she had received a psychological evaluation for drugs and alcohol and that the results of that evaluation indicated a diagnosis of schizoid personality disorder (Id.); and that Striggles had paid someone to take her GED for her and that she was borderline mentally retarded (PC-R. 5602). Laswell then testified that had he known about

these facts they "may have" influenced him to exercise a peremptory challenge but didn't because he wasn't aware of them. (PC-R. 5610).

Laswell did not recall litigating a motion in limine filed to keep out any of Mr. Boyd's prior criminal cases where he was acquitted (PC-R. 5613). Laswell was not sure whether it was important to keep out Mr. Boyd's prior acquittals but thought it was "decent lawyering" (PC-R. 5614). Had Laswell known that the State seated one of Mr. Boyd's alleged prior rape victims, and a rebuttal witness, in the courtroom during Mr. Boyd's testimony, he would have raised an objection (PC-R. 5617). He did not know the alleged victim was in the courtroom until an outburst occurred (Id.). The outburst from the alleged victim occurred during Mr. Boyd's testimony regarding the issue of how they had obtained his DNA sample (PC-R. 5638). Laswell did not raise an objection to the outburst at the time it occurred (PC-R. 5619). The only strategic reason he was able to provide for why this did not occur was that he "probably didn't have a chance" (PC-R. 5620). Laswell likewise did not move for a mistrial, stating that he could not think of a strategy for that other than he wanted to "get it behind me as quick as possible" (PC-R. 5620, 5637). Laswell confirmed that from the transcripts of the penalty phase hearing in the record on appeal the outburst had occurred during Mr. Boyd's testimony regarding the issue of how they had obtained his DNA sample (PC-R. 5638).

When asked during cross examination whether, knowing what he does now regarding juror Striggles history, he would have changed his thought process regarding use of a peremptory challenge, Laswell testified "I don't know. But I sure would have conducted some voir dire" (PC-R. 5633). Laswell noted that he would have wanted to ask more questions about the surrounding circumstances of the crimes in order to reach a determination as to whether he wanted her on the jury or not (Id.) He then noted that in his estimation he was "not a good witness in this case" (PC-R. 5634). That he was now older, retired, and that this was a "bad case" with a "difficult client" and that he was glad to be done with it (Id.)

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