TGEGKXGF. "31814236"37-2: <66. "Iqj p"C0Vqo cukpq. "Ergtm"Uwrtgo g"Eqwtv

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC13-244

LUCIOUS BOYD

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

......

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

......

#### CORRECTED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone (561) 837-5000
Facsimile (561) 837-5108
E-mail:
Leslie.Campbell@MyFloridaLegal.com
Secondary E-mail:
CapApp@MyFloridaLegal.com

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I - Boyd's claim of juror misconduct is procedurally barred and meritless. He failed to show materiality under De La Rosa or that an "actually biased" juror sat under Carratelli as counsel testified his practice is not to remove jurors with criminal histories and nothing presented has changed his mind.

Issue II - Deficient performance and prejudice under Strickland and Carratelli were not proven as it was counsel's strategy is not to challenge jurors with criminal histories and Boyd failed to show that an "actually biased" juror was seated.

Issue III - Counsel made the reasonable strategic decision not to object to or seek a mistrial where Boyd goaded a spectator to respond to Boyd pointing her out to the jury.

Issue IV - The summary denial of the ineffectiveness claim of not conducting a more thorough voir dire is refuted by the record as counsel reasonably relied on the voir dire questions posed by the judge and State. Counsel was not ineffective in not seeking a Frye hearing on the admissibility of fiber, bite mark and DNA evidence nor was counsel ineffective for not utilizing a forensic expert as those disciplines are not new or novel and counsel, who was also a medical doctor, used his expertise to cross-examine the State's experts thoroughly. Given the remaining evidence, prejudice was not shown. The 2009 NAS Report is not newly discovered evidence.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

BOYD'S CLAIM THAT JUROR MISCONDUCT RESULTED IN A UNRELIABLE TRIAL AND A DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS BY A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE MERITLESS (restated)

It is Boyd's position that Striggles and Rebstock, by failing to disclose their felony and misdemeanor convictions respectively, violated his due process rights and rendered his trial unreliable. The trial court held an evidentiary hearing on this claim, but found it procedurally barred and alternately meritless. This ruling should be affirmed as juror misconduct allegations are issues which could have been raised on direct appeal. Moreover, Boyd did not meet the dictates of De La Rosa v. Zequeira, 659 So.2d 239 (Fla. 1995) or Carratelli v. State, 961 So.2d 312, 324 (Fla. 2007) for either juror and Rebstock's misdemeanor convictions did not disqualify him under the statute. Relief was denied properly and should be affirmed.

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court employs different standards of review depending on whether there was a summary denial of postconviction relief or a denial of relief following an evidentiary hearing.

This Court accords deference to the postconviction court's factual findings following its denial of a claim after an evidentiary hearing. . . . "As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, 'this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions

of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court." . . . The postconviction court's legal conclusions, however, are reviewed de novo. . . . When evaluating claims that were summarily denied without a hearing, this Court will affirm "only when the claim is 'legally insufficient, should have been brought on direct appeal, or [is] positively refuted by the record.'"

Jackson v. State, --- So.3d ----, 2013 WL 5269865 at \*10 (Fla. Sept. 19, 2013) (citations omitted).

# B. SUBSTANTIVE CLAIMS OF JUROR MISCONDUCT RAISED ON COLLATERAL REVIEW ARE PROCEDURALLY BARRED

Although an evidentiary hearing was held on the instant claim, the trial court determined the matter was procedurally barred. Boyd asserts this was error.

In denying postconviction relief, the trial court reasoned the claim was procedurally barred as it could have been raised on direct appeal under *Elledge v. State*, 911 So.2d 57, 77 n.27 (Fla. 2005) and *Troy v. State*, 57 So. 3d 828 (2011). (PCR.23 4420). Boyd asserts that this was error as the trial court misapplied *Elledge*. However, recently this Court again found a substantive claim of juror misconduct raised on collateral review was procedurally barred. *See Diaz v. State*, --- So.3d --- -, 2013 WL 6170645 (Fla. Nov. 21, 2013).

In Diaz, on collateral review, this Court found no error in summarily denying the defendant's "motion to interview jurors, summarily denying his juror misconduct claim, and denying his

claim that he was deprived of a trial by an impartial jury due to Williams' failure to disclose" finding Diaz could have sought juror interviews after trial and raised the issue on appeal, hence the claims were procedurally barred in postconviction litigation. Diaz, 2013 WL 6170645 at \*6. See Troy v. State, 57 So.3d 828, 838 (Fla. 2011) (finding substantive claim of juror misconduct were procedurally barred as they "could have and should have been raised on direct appeal"); Elledge v. State, 911 So.2d 57, 78, n.27 (Fla. 2005) (same); Happ v. Moore, 784 So.2d 1091, 1094 n.3 (Fla. 2001); Brown v. State, 755 So.2d 616, 637 (Fla. 2000). The claim is procedurally barred.

Boyd points to Lugo v. State, 2 So.3d 1 (Fla. 2008) for support. However, in Lugo, this Court analyzed the issue under both in De La Rosa v. Zequeira, 659 So.2d 239 (Fla. 1995) and Carratelli v. State, 961 So.2d 312, 324 (Fla. 2007) concluding that under either standard, Lugo was not entitled to relief. In Diaz, this Court's most recent review of the issue clearly states that such claims are procedurally barred. Diaz, 2013 WL

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(e)(1) states it "does not authorize relief based upon claims that could have and should have been raised at trial and, if properly preserved, on direct appeal." Johnson v. State, 921 So. 2d 490, 508 n.13 (Fla. 2005); see Thomas v. State, 838 So. 2d 535, 539 (Fla. 2003) (noting this provision requires the defendant to raise claims pretrial and not "blindside" the State years later on postconviction review). In fact, this Court stated in Elledge that "any substantive claim of juror misconduct" was barred even though the defendant was claiming the facts were outside the record and needed to be developed. Elledge, 911 So. 2d at 77 & n.27.

6170645 at \*6. Relief should be denied.

# C. BOYD'S CLAIM IS MERITLESS AS HE FAILED TO SHOW AN "ACTUALLY BIASED" JUROR WAS SEATED UNDER CARRATELLI OR THAT MATERIALITY WAS SHOWN UNDER DE LA ROSA

Even though the trial court found the claim procedurally barred, it also reviewed the matter under De La Rosa and found Boyd's evidentiary hearing presentation wanting as neither materiality nor actual bias was proven. Boyd takes issue with the trial court's findings that materiality and "actual bias" were not shown. He asserts that, in the criminal context, there should be no distinction between a juror with an undisclosed criminal history and one under active prosecution. Both, he claims, should establish materiality and entitle him to relief. Additionally, Boyd maintains that he should not have had to prove actual bias and that under Companioni v. City of Tampa, 958 So.2d 404 (2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 2007) there is "inherent bias." Boyd disagrees with the trial court ruling that he did not meet his burden under De La Rosa. He claims he established materiality and that had the facts been known counsel "may have been influenced peremptorily" strike the jurors. Contrary to Boyd's assertions, the trial court's factual findings were supported by the record and its legal conclusions proper.

The record indicates that Question 11 of Judge Rothschild's jury questionnaire was "Friend or family previously in the court system?" (PCR.31 5577). In response to Judge Rothschild's

questions, Striggles indicated that she had been involved with the criminal justice system in Broward County when she was a juvenile and that she guessed she was treated fairly by the system and that she agreed with the Court that she had gotten over it. (R.6 113-14). Rebstock answered in the negative to Question 11 regarding whether friends or family were involved with the criminal justice system. (R.6 98). Both Striggles and Rebstock responded "no" to Judge Rothchild's Question 13. (R.6 98; 113-14). "Yes" answers by other jurors prompted follow-up questions regarding impartiality and bias. (R.6 125-31) Striggles acknowledged she could be fair and impartial regarding the death penalty. (TR.5 58-59)

During the evidentiary hearing, Boyd placed in evidence records from Striggles' case files from her Florida and Georgia felony charges. However, the Broward County criminal records indicated the Georgia charge was rejected as a basis for revoking Striggles' probation because she did not have counsel in Georgia. (PCR.24 4461-68) With respect to Rebstock, records were introduced at the evidentiary hearing indicating that in 1991, 10 years before Boyd's trial, Rebstock had been arrested, pled no contest to a <u>misdemeanor</u> count, had adjudication withheld, and paid court costs. (PCR.25 4669-73).

Laswell, with over 40 years experience practicing criminal law and selecting juries, explained it has been his practice not

to challenge jurors who have indicated they had had prior difficulties with the criminal justice system. In fact, it was his general practice to retain those jurors with prior criminal histories. He revealed "it is my general position that in a serious criminal case when a juror says to me or to anybody on voir dire that they've had a run-in with law enforcement and have been prosecuted, I don't follow-up on that because I figure they are going to be more favorable to me than they are to the State." And that it was the prosecutor who needed to concerned, before the defense. (PCR.31 5583-85). Laswell also testified he learns a lot about the jurors from the voir dire conducted by the trial court and prosecutor, who are able to question the jury before the defense. (PCR.31 5626-27, 5636). Like Laswell, Ongley's philosophy/belief was that jurors with criminal histories would question the State/police and such was useful in light of Boyd's defense based in part on accusing the police of planting evidence. (PCR.31 5683-84, 5690).

Both Laswell and Ongley averred that all jury selection decisions were made jointly after consultation with Boyd; no decision was made without Boyd's input and Boyd never complained about the jury selection. Boyd accepted Striggles and Rebstock. (PCR.31 5627-28, 5663, 5665, 5684) Ongley testified that the general defense strategy for jury selection was to retain those jurors thought to be open-minded and sympathetic to the defense

while eliminating those thought to help the State. (PCR.2 7-8).

The trial and subsequent evidentiary hearing records also reflect that Striggles was an African-American woman who had not had any criminal difficulties for some 13-20 years before Boyd's trial. (PCR.31 5667, 5682). During voir dire Striggles admitted to having a juvenile criminal history, although her criminal history dated from the time she was in her twenty's. She also reported her last employment was serving in the United States Laswell reiterated he did not question Striggles or Rebstock about their criminal histories because he believed, based on his 40 years of legal experience, those criminal histories would mean Striggles and Rebstock would be biased against the prosecution. (PCR.31 5628-29). Laswell testified that he would take "his chances" with a convicted felon on the jury. (PCR.31 5629). While Laswell admitted that had he known of Striggles' felony record he would have questioned her. However, in his notes from the voir dire, Laswell had jotted down the phrase "got over it" with respect to Striggles referring to her criminal troubles and that a significant amount of tame as passed and knowing people change over time. Laswell could not say that he would have stricken Striggles had he known of her criminal history. (R.31 5628-34).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> No records were presented for Striggles indicating there were any criminal troubles in Florida after 1988, some 13 years before Boyd's trial.

Laswell admitted he was unaware of the materials contained in Striggles' case files requesting a mental health evaluation, possible suicidal thoughts, and possible intelligence deficiencies. PCR.24 4461-68; PCR.31 5595-5602). Nonetheless, even with this new information, Laswell was not willing to say he would have stricken Striggles. Laswell saw no documents to date that would change his mind about either Striggles or Rebstock. (PCR.31 5629, 5650)

After setting out the De La Rosa three-prong standard, the trial court determined that with respect to both jurors, Boyd could not meet the materiality prong of De La Rosa. (PCR.23 4421). It also relied upon its analysis of the ineffectiveness allegation under Claim IIIA.2 of the postconviction motion where it found that actual bias was not shown under Carratelli which the State addresses in Issue II below and incorporates here. With respect to Striggles' failure to disclose the full extent of her criminal history, the trial court found materiality under De La Rosa was unproven because her last conviction was in 1989, some 12 years before Boyd's trial, there was no evidence she had legal problems since then, and she had served in the U.S. Army. (PCR.23 4421-22). More important to the court, the evidence showed "defense counsel would not have exercised a peremptory challenge to exclude Striggles" merely because she was statutorily disqualified given her felony convictions. The

court found: "Mr. Laswell's testimony was that he would have taken his chances with a convicted felon on the jury, because it was his belief that jurors who had a run-in with the criminal justice system would be more favorable to the defense than to the State. It was his practice to let the prosecutor exclude prospective jurors with criminal convictions." (PCR.23 4422). The trial court concluded that under Johnston v. State, 63 So.2d 730 (Fla. 2011), because Boyd "did not show that the non-disclosed [criminal history] information prevented counsel from making an informed judgment that would have most likely resulted in a peremptory challenge, he cannot meet the materiality prong." (PCR.23 4422).

Those findings and conclusions are supported by Laswell's testimony as he reiterated that he did not question Striggles or Rebstock about their criminal histories because he believed that they would be biased against the state based on that history. (PCR.31 5628). This decision was based on his 40 years of legal experience. In fact, Laswell admitted that he would take his chances with a convicted felon on the jury. (PCR.31 5629). While Laswell admitted that had he known of Striggles' felony record he would have questioned her further, but recognized that he had noted that had she "gotten over it," Laswell would have kept her on the jury recognizing that people change over time. (PCR.31 5630). As the trial court concluded, the De La Rosa

"materiality" was unproven as Striggles criminal difficulties were more than a decade in the past and Laswell would have retained a convicted felon on the jury leaving it to the prosecution to use its peremptory challenge. The trial court's factual findings are supported by the record and legal conclusion comports with this Court's decisions in Johnston v. State, 63 So.2d 730 (Fla. 2011) and Diaz, 2013 WL 6170645 at \*6 (rejecting claim in part because defense counsel would have kept juror irrespective of undisclosed information).

Boyd takes issue with the trial court's finding Striggles' status as a conviction felon was insufficient to warrant relief. He cites to Companioni, for support and equates a non-disclosure of an active prosecution with a decades old felony conviction. That argument should be rejected. In State v. Rodgers, 347 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1977), this Court considered and rejected a claim that a juror's incorrect answer during voir dire was sufficient to overturn a criminal conviction. It held "in the absence of evidence that the defendant was not accorded a fair and impartial jury or that his substantive rights were prejudiced by the participation and misconduct of the unqualified juror, he is not entitled to a new trial." Id. at 613.

In Lowrey v. State, 705 So. 2d 1367 (Fla. 1998), this Court recognized an exception to Rodgers for those cases where a juror was under prosecution by the same prosecutor's office at the

time of his jury service. However, this Court made clear that it did "not overrule Rodgers; [it was] simply carving out an exception based on the unique circumstances presented." Id. at 1370; see also Coleman v. State, 718 So.2d 827, 830 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). In Lowery this Court agreed with the District Court's perception of:

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